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Priscilla Queen v. Francis Neale,  
The Jesuit Cases, and Their Consequences 
by Paul S. Maco 

 

The corruption of manners in the master,  

from the entire subjection of the slaves he possesses to his sole will;  

from whence spring forth luxury, pride, cruelty,  

with the infinite enormities appertaining to their train . . .  

(Francis Hargrave addressing the King’s Bench 

 in Somerset v. Stewart) (1) 

 

Overview 

In the dawn of the United States, an enslaved person who dared to sue their 

enslaver to secure their freedom undoubtedly understood the terrifying potential 

consequences awaiting should they fail. Yet thousands of enslaved Black people did 

just that by filing what are known as “freedom suits.” Undeterred, they took the risks in 

the pursuit of that most precious prize – liberty – for themselves and their descendants. 

At least in the brief moment in history when they could.  

In England, four years before the Declaration of Independence, the case 

Somerset v. Stewart (Somerset, or Somerset’s Case) came before the King’s Bench. 

The King’s Bench was the most senior criminal court in England for most of its 

existence, exercising supervisory jurisdiction over all inferior criminal courts. (2) The 

case posed the question of whether enslaved persons were entitled to constitutional 

rights and protections or were mere chattel slaves. The ruling by the Chief Justice of the 

King’s Bench, issued in 1772, setting free the enslaved man James Somerset, “sent 

political and legal shockwaves through Britain and its American colonies.” (3) Its 

outcome posed a challenge to the North American colonies and their plantations, which 

were becoming increasingly dependent upon enslaved human labor, as well as to the 

traders trafficking in that labor. That challenge soon became apparent in the form of 

post-colonial freedom suits inspired by Somerset, testing the resolve of the new 

American government to fully realize the self-evident truths proclaimed by its 
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foundational document, the Declaration of Independence. (4)  

  Among freedom suits, the case of Priscilla Queen v. Francis Neale (Queen v. 

Neale) (5), stands out for parishioners of Holy Trinity Catholic Church in Georgetown 

because the defendant was also Holy Trinity’s founder and first pastor, the Reverend 

Francis Ignatius Neale, S.J. On a broader scale, Queen v. Neale was only one among 

the many freedom suits brought against the Jesuits, who were among the largest 

enslavers in Maryland. After initial, costly defeats, their subsequent victories in the 

Maryland courts tightened, case by case, the Jesuits’ and their fellow planter-enslavers’ 

hold on their human property (the “Jesuit Cases”). (6)  As the sister case preceding 

Queen v. Hepburn (7), Queen v. Neale played a part in the larger story of the 

establishment of the “hearsay rule” early in the formation of American law, with 

immediate consequences for freedom suits.  

“The most important hearsay case in American history,” is Queen v. Hepburn 

according to Stanford law professor David A. Sklansky.  It “buttressed the institution of 

slavery by closing off one of the few legal avenues through which people in bondage 

could seek their freedom.” (8)  The remaining pathways of freedom suits to the prize of 

liberty were ultimately shut by the United States Supreme Court in the last freedom suit, 

Dred Scott v. Sandford (9) 

The consequences emanating from the Jesuit Cases extended beyond the 

caselaw of Maryland, influencing the development of American law in seemingly benign 

areas of law governing evidence and trial procedure, instilling a bias favoring the 

enslavers, and decreasing access to the courts and frustrating rather than promoting 

justice. The Jesuit Cases went to the heart of the question raised at our nation’s birth: 

are enslaved persons entitled to certain inalienable rights or are they mere chattel 

slaves? The question would not be settled before a bloody civil war and three 

amendments to the Constitution. The outcome has never been fully accepted among all 

Americans.  

Francis Ignatius Neale, the founder and first pastor of Holy Trinity, was born in 

1756 in Charles County, Maryland, one of thirteen children of William and Anne Brooke 

Neale, a wealthy and prominent Maryland Catholic family. As were many landowners in 

Maryland at the time, his parents were enslavers. (10) Francis was a fifth-generation 
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descendant of Captain James Neale, who came to Maryland around 1637 in the service 

of Governor Leonard Calvert, for which Captain Neale received a manorial grant of two 

thousand acres near what would later become Port Tobacco in Charles County. Like 

three of his older brothers, William, Leonard, and Charles, Francis was sent at an early 

age to the Jesuit College at St. Omer’s in Flanders. All four became Jesuit priests. 

Three returned to the United States. Leonard would become president of Georgetown 

College and the second archbishop of Baltimore, and Charles, the founder and chaplain 

of the first Carmelite convent in the United States at Port Tobacco. Charles exchanged a 

portion of the family estate, Chandler’s Hope, that he owned, with a neighbor for land 

and buildings that became “The Carmel of Port Tobacco.” (11) Francis, on his return to 

the United States in 1788, was assigned to St. Thomas Manor, near Chandler’s Hope 

and Port Tobacco. (12)  

 The prominence of his family may have had much to do with Bishop Carroll’s 

bringing him to Georgetown in 1792 – where he would remain pastor of Holy Trinity until 

1817. In addition to his duties at Holy Trinity, Francis Neale became on arrival the 

unofficial treasurer of Georgetown College, and later served as its vice-president and 

president. (13) He took on various duties with the Corporation of Roman Catholic 

Clergymen of Maryland as well. (14) 

 On January 8, 1810, a Petition for Freedom by Priscilla Queen against Francis 

Neale was filed in the Circuit Court of the District of Columbia for the County of 

Washington (15) by her attorney, Francis Scott Key, initiating the proceedings in Queen 

v. Neale. Her petition stated that “she is unjustly held in bondage as a slave” and “as 

she apprehends she may be removed out of the County & district before the next term 

of this Court she prays a subpoena to issue to the said Francis Neale . . . immediately.” 

(16)  A Black woman enslaved by Holy Trinity’s founding pastor had dared attempt to 

gain her freedom by filing a freedom suit against him in federal court. 

 

Somerset’s Case, Self-Evident Truths, and Freedom Suits 

  Contrary to much currently held understanding, in the late 18th century the 

institution of slavery had no firm ground in the laws of England or the new United 

States. Freedom suits had been filed in colonial America as early as 1656. In the winter 



4 
 

of 1655-56, Elizabeth Key sued the estate of her enslaver, claiming she had been 

retained beyond her term of service, after which she was to have been freed, as 

required by the agreement under which she was enslaved. After initial success and 

reversal, the Justices of the Peace of Northumberland County, Virginia, ruled on July 21, 

1656, that Elizabeth Key should be free and compensated for her additional years of 

service. (17)  

Aside from the ill-fated Roanoke Colony, the English colonization of America 

began with proprietor charters granted by the King to settle overlapping territories along 

the American coast and westward. (18) During the 17th century, as the colonies were 

settled and expanded, the nature of the English Crown changed from absolute 

monarchy to constitutional monarchy with primacy of Parliament over the Crown 

through the Glorious Revolution culminating with the 1689 English Bill of Rights, (19) 

establishing both Parliamentary and individual rights, and the installation of William III 

and Mary II as joint monarchs. In that same year of 1689, John Locke anonymously 

published his two Treatises of Government, the second of which articulated reason as 

the law of nature under which “a new doctrine of natural rights – to life, liberty, and 

property . . .  which belong to all people by birth.” (20)  

Over that same period, the colonies became a source of increasing wealth for 

England generated by, in many instances, enslaved labor. Colonial laws accommodated 

enslaved labor while Charles II chartered a monopoly for, and Parliament subsequently 

legislated engagement in, the international slave trade. As enslavement-generated 

wealth grew in England, notions of the dubious morality of slavery, particularly in the 

abolition movement as well as society in general, grew as well. (21) The two came face 

to face in Somerset’s Case.  

Somerset v. Stewart was a freedom suit based on a writ of habeas corpus 

brought in England four years before the thirteen American colonies declared their 

independence. James Somerset had been brought to England from Virginia by Charles 

Stewart, his enslaver. (22)  He abandoned his enslaver on October 1, 1771. He was 

subsequently seized and put on board the vessel of Captain Knowles, detained against 

his will to be taken to Jamaica and sold. While in England, Somerset had been 

baptized. Prompted by the abolitionist Granville Sharp, his three godparents sought a 
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writ of habeas corpus, a writ requiring one suspected of unlawfully detaining a person to 

bring that person before the court to determine the legality of the detention. Captain 

Knowles appeared with James Somerset before the King’s Bench on December 9, 

1771. Somerset was released until argument of the case before three judges, with Lord 

Mansfield, Chief Justice of the King’s Bench, presiding. (23)  

The arguments for both sides had been heavily financed. To the abolitionists, 

financial support to James Somerset should result in his confirmation by the Court as a 

person entitled to constitutional rights and protections; to the West Indian merchants 

financing Stewart’s defense, Somerset was and should be found to be a mere chattel 

slave, property to be bought, sold, and traded with minimal interference, lest the 

abundant wealth derived from colonial plantations and the slave trade be jeopardized 

and thousands of enslaved suddenly be set free in England. (24)  

Arguments were heard in two hearings. Lord Mansfield understood his decision 

would have major consequences. As reflected in the case report, he had pushed both 

sides to settle but the merchants financing Stewart refused. Lord Mansfield responded, 

“If the parties will have judgment, fiat justitia, ruat coelum” (Let Justice be done, though 

the Heavens fall). They did.  

On June 22, 1722, Lord Mansfield ruled: 

 

The state of slavery is of such a nature, that it is incapable of being introduced on 

any reasons, moral or political; but only positive law, which preserves its force 

long after the reasons, occasion, and time itself from whence it was created, is 

erased from memory: it is so odious, that nothing can be suffered to support it, 

but positive law. Whatever inconveniences, therefore, may follow from a decision, 

I cannot say this case is allowed or approved by the law of England; and 

therefore the black must be discharged. (25) 

 

Lord Mansfield pronounced the ruling of the Court and James Somerset was set 

free. His nuanced, magisterial ruling, although technically ruling only upon the writ, 

would echo through the ages. (26)  

Popularly, Somerset was understood to mean that slavery was illegal in England. 
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(27) Somerset posed a powerful challenge to the colonies and their plantations 

increasingly dependent upon enslaved human labor as well as the merchant traders 

providing that labor. By “positive law,” Lord Mansfield meant an act of Parliament. 

Parliament had enacted numerous laws enabling the slave trade, as pointed out by 

Stewart’s counsel, William Wallace. But such legislation related to activities outside 

England. For the various colonies, positive law could be a factor in favor of the 

enslavers in meeting that challenge.      

 Two years later in Scotland, Joseph Knight, who had learned of Somerset, 

claimed that although purchased in Jamaica by his enslaver Wedderburn, the act of 

landing in Scotland freed him, as slavery was not recognized in Scotland. In 1778, in 

Knight v. Wedderburn, the Scottish Court of Session (Scotland’s Supreme Court) 

agreed and affirmed the lower court’s judgment that had ruled “the state of slavery is not 

recognized by the laws of this kingdom, and is inconsistent with the principles thereof.” 

The outcome in the Court of Session went beyond Somerset: slavery was illegal in 

Scotland. (28) Powerful forces, abolitionists against the planters and traders, had once 

again clashed with each other as they had in Somerset. So would it be in the new 

nation, but with different outcomes.  

In July 1776, drawing on the Bill of Rights of 1689 and Locke’s Second Treatise, 

the thirteen colonies declared their independence, holding certain “truths to be self-

evident, that all men are created equal, that they are endowed by their Creator with 

certain unalienable Rights, that among these are Life, Liberty and the pursuit of 

Happiness.” (29) The previous month, the Virginia House of Delegates had adopted the 

Virginia Declaration of Rights, likewise inspired by the Bill of Rights and Locke, but with  

a notable caveat in its first section:  

 

That all men are by nature equally free and independent and have certain 

inherent rights, of which, when they enter into a state of society, they cannot, 

by any compact, deprive or divest their posterity: namely, the enjoyment of life 

and liberty, with the means of acquiring and possessing property, and pursuing 

and obtaining happiness and safety (emphasis added). (30).  
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The phrase, “when they enter into a state of society,” was inserted to amend the 

declaration “specifically to exclude slaves” and “(as a byproduct, women and Native 

Americans).” (31).    

From the summer of 1776, at the birth of the new country, the question – are 

enslaved persons entitled to certain inalienable rights or are they mere chattel slaves? – 

was in play.  

In 1783, in the Quock Walker case, the Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court 

declared slavery effectively abolished as incompatible with the recently adopted 

Massachusetts Constitution of 1780. (32) Enslaved people in Massachusetts could 

secure their freedom in the Commonwealth. 

The tension would only increase after 1789 under the new Constitution, which 

acknowledged but did not authorize slavery’s existence, and included the “fugitive slave 

(which word the text avoided) provision” of Article IV, section 2: 

The Citizens of Each State shall be entitled to all Privileges and 

Immunities of Citizens in the several States. 

… 

No Person held to Service or Labour in one State, under the Laws 

thereof, escaping into another, shall, in Consequence of any Law or 

Regulation therein, be discharged from such Service or Labour, but shall 

be delivered up on Claim of the Party to whom such Service or Labour 

may be due. 

More plainly, to the Slave States, Article IV, section 2 meant an enslaved person who 

flees to a state that has abolished slavery will remain enslaved and will be returned by 

the State to the enslaver upon demand by the enslaver, effectively negating the 

principle of Somerset’s Case. (33)   

 Yet, in each of the freedom suits above, an enslaved Black man had initiated and 

tenaciously pursued his case to secure a landmark ruling allowing others to follow. 

Individual enslaved Black men and women in Maryland were quick to do the same. (34) 

In 1791, the Maryland High Court of Appeals affirmed the General Court’s decision 

freeing Mary Butler, the culmination of an effort begun 28 years earlier. (35) Mary was a 
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descendant of Eleanor “Irish Nell” Butler, a White indentured servant who in 1681, when 

free of her indenture, married an enslaved man knowing that under the law at the time 

her descendants would be enslaved. Decades later, in 1763, after legislative changes 

allowing freedom to children of free White women married to enslaved men, a grandson 

of Irish Nell and his wife Mary sued their enslaver for their freedom. Although victorious 

in 1770 after a long trial, their favorable verdict was overturned on appeal the following 

year. (36) Thirteen years (including a war of independence) later, their daughter Mary 

Butler renewed the fight and brought suit against her enslaver, Adam Craig. Mary’s 

lawyer, Jeremiah Townley Chase, invoked Nell Butler’s rights as an English subject and 

the injustice and cruelty of passing on penalties to innocent generations of offspring. 

She won, and was awarded damages, lawyers’ fees, and court costs by the Court – the 

sum of five thousand five hundred and twenty-five pounds of tobacco. (37) The decision 

was upheld on appeal by the Maryland Court of Appeals in June 1791.  (38) Now a free 

woman, Mary appeared as a witness in court for her children who, successful in their 

petitions, were awarded their freedom. (39) According to historian William Thomas, the 

Butler family filed more than ninety suits for freedom, winning every single one of them 

between 1787 and 1791. (40) Among the Butlers now eligible for freedom as 

descendants of Irish Nell were Lucy and Liddy Butler, early parishioners of Holy Trinity. 

(41)  

 

The Jesuit Cases 

As Professor Bernard Cook has recounted in “Maryland Jesuits and Slavery,” 

from their arrival in 1633 and the establishment of their first plantation at St. Inigoes, to 

1790, the year before the first of the Jesuit Cases, the Jesuit properties had grown to 

include five plantations and a number of smaller properties amounting to approximately 

13,000 acres, worked by some 323 enslaved people in 1790. (42) After the Maryland 

Court of Appeals ruling for Mary Butler, it may not have come as a surprise to the 

Jesuits when four months later, on October 15, 1791, Edward Queen filed a petition for 

freedom against the Rev. John Ashton, S.J., in the General Court of the Western Shore 

of Maryland. (43) Ashton was named because he was Queen’s enslaver, as well as 

manager of the Jesuit plantation at White Marsh, and the procurator general of the 
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Corporation of Roman Catholic Clergymen which enslaved Queen’s entire family. (44)  

The Queens were descendants of Mary Queen, according to deposition 

testimony admitted into evidence, a free woman of color from New Spain who had come 

to Maryland from England as an indentured servant around 1713. In May 1794 the jury 

reached a verdict that Mary Queen was not a slave and Edward Queen was freed. (45)  

Twenty-one other members of the Queen family were freed in April 1796 by a favorable 

jury verdict in Prince George’s County Court for Edward’s mother Phillis in Phillis Queen 

v. John Ashton. (46) In this case, in addition to the testimony as to Mary Queen 

originating in New Spain and coming to Maryland by way of England, the jury heard a 

contrary narrative in the deposition testimony of Benjamin Duvall, an 83-year-old county 

resident who had met and spoken with Mary Queen and who testified she was from 

Africa and always enslaved. The jury gave it little weight but Benjamin Duvall’s 

testimony would later have devastating consequences. 

 For the enslavers, the combined verdicts were staggering. William Thomas 

reports that “the trials cost John Ashton and the Jesuits 6,795 pounds of tobacco in 

damages, court costs and fees.” He estimates “the Queen family members freed in April 

1796 represented more than a quarter of the people the Jesuits enslaved at White 

Marsh” and “constituted one of the largest single financial losses in the annals of the 

Jesuit corporation.” (47) Freedom suits, for a brief time following the success of the 

Queen and Butler families, would proliferate. 

 Edward Queen was represented by Gabriel Duvall and Philip Barton Key, the 

uncle of Francis Scott Key. Philip Barton Key was considered to have been quite an 

effective adversary. Following the jury verdict favoring Edward Queen, the Jesuits hired 

Philip Barton Key for the sum of 4 pounds 17 shillings sixpence, according to 1774 

entries in the St. Thomas Manor Account Book, “to . . . retain or stop the mouth of the 

lawyer Key from speaking in favor of the Negroes who have sued for their freedom.” 

(48) Their formidable adversary, Philip Barton Key, was now their lawyer. It would soon 

make a difference.  

 As freedom suits found success in Maryland courts as well as with juries, the 

Maryland legislature went to work to turn the tide in the planter-enslavers’ favor. In 

December 1793, the legislature changed the courts of original jurisdiction for freedom 
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suits from the General Court (drawing jury pools from many counties with non-enslaving 

majorities) to the lower district courts of the county where the petitioner and enslaver 

lived (from which a jury would be selected – and potentially influenced by the enslaver). 

The statute’s stated purpose was to address “the inconvenience to citizens” of original 

jurisdiction residing with the general court. Substantively it did much more, restricting 

appeals from the county court to “matters of law, where the facts shall have been tried 

by a jury.” Findings of fact could no longer be challenged. (49) The shift to county courts 

and limitations on appeal soon took its toll.  

In June 1794, Nancy Queen filed a Petition for Freedom in Charles County Court 

against Charles Sewall, a Jesuit priest and her enslaver, claiming her freedom as the 

great granddaughter of Mary Queen. In August 1796, four months after the jury verdict 

freeing Phillis Queen and her descendants, the jury for Nancy Queen heard the 

deposition of Benjamin Duvall as to Mary Queen’s origins and found Mary Queen 

“always was a slave.” The court ruled Nancy Queen was not entitled to her freedom and 

must “return to her master.” (50) 

 On October 18, 1791, three days after filing Edward Queen’s petition for freedom 

against the Reverend John Ashton, Gabriel Duvall filed a second petition against Ashton 

on behalf of Charles Mahoney, this time in Anne Arundel County. (51) Charles Mahoney 

claimed he was entitled to his freedom as descended from a free woman named Ann 

Joice who derived her freedom, as in Somerset, through her presence in England and 

subsequent transport to Maryland by Lord Baltimore. (52) Unlike his representation of 

the petitioner Edward Queen, Philip Barton Key did not join Gabriel Duvall as part of 

Charles Mahoney’s legal team. To the contrary, following his retainer by the Jesuits in 

August 1794, Key would defend Ashton. (53)  

Charles Mahoney’s journey through the Maryland courts would be much longer 

than Edward Queen’s, as both sides gathered extensive deposition testimony and 

awaited response from a committee searching for evidence in London. (54) Time and 

money would seem to have been without limit. After a jury verdict in the first trial on his 

petition had been deemed insufficient, in the second the jury returned a verdict in his 

favor in May 1799, more than seven years after the filing of his petition, awarding the 

sum of $159.00 together with 8,929 pounds of tobacco in costs and charges. (55)  For 
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the time being, Charles Mahoney was free.  

Three years after the costly freedom of the Queen family, the potential financial 

consequences of freedom for the Mahoneys and other descendants of Ann Joice for the 

Jesuits and their fellow planter-enslavers were ominous. More than fifteen hundred 

descendants of Ann Joice, all relatives of Charles Mahoney, stood to gain their freedom. 

Among the planter-enslavers was Charles Carroll of Carrolton who "held more than 60 

Joice descendants in bondage.” (56)  Ashton’s lawyers immediately filed an appeal with 

the Maryland Court of Appeals, (57) but the Court of Appeals would not hear the case 

until June 1802. In the interim, John Ashton was “removed from his post as manager of 

White Marsh in 1801 as Bishop John Carroll sought to take control of the litigation and 

contain the losses on the Jesuit plantations.” (58) Thomas recounts: “The Jesuits, the 

Carrolls, and many others feared the unraveling of slavery on their respective 

plantations, as well as the potential financial loss if hundreds of Mahoney family 

members went free. Neither the Jesuit trustees nor Bishop John Carroll trusted John 

Ashton to defend their interests against the Mahoneys.” (59) As the West Indies 

merchants took control of Stewart’s defense in Somerset, the true parties at interest 

took control before the upcoming hearing before the Court of Appeals.  

For the defendant Jesuits and other Maryland planter-enslavers, as well as the 

Mahoney enslaved and their supporting abolitionists, the stakes in the case before the 

Maryland Court of Appeals were as high as were for those in Somerset v. Stewart. The 

eloquent and aggressive arguments of counsel recorded in the court reports of each 

case reflected no less. (60) Jeremiah Townley Chase, earlier Mary Butler’s lawyer and 

now the chief justice of the general court, had instructed the jury: 

That if, from the evidence, the jury are of opinion that the woman Joice, 

from whom the petitioner is descended, was in England, and came from 

thence, they must find a verdict for the petitioner. 

Before his instruction, Chase delivered the opinion of the court that the applicable law 

for the case was the common law of England, as reflected in Somerset. Ashton’s 

lawyers took exception, providing the fourth bill of exception before the Court of 

Appeals. The now thirty-year-old Somerset ruling was at the heart of the arguments 
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before the Court of Appeals, both in interpretation and application. (61) Was Somerset 

simply a narrow ruling on the writ of habeas corpus or had Somerset abolished slavery; 

prospective only or retroactive as well; and was the outcome for James Somerset 

personally, local only to England, or universal, effective wherever he travelled?  

Mahoney’s counsel argued whatever status Ann Joice had, once she set foot in 

England, she was free:  

 

Once free, we contend she could not afterwards by any change of her residence, 

nor could any agreement between Lord Baltimore, and her former master, affect 

her, or impair this right in the slightest degree. Slavery is incompatible with every 

principle of religion and morality. It is unnatural and contrary to the maxims of 

political law more especially in this country, where “we hold these truths to be self 

evident, that all men are created equal;” and that liberty is an “unalienable right.”  

(62)  

 

Arguing for Ashton and the Jesuits, Maryland Attorney General Luther Martin 

countered:  

 

Negroes, we contend, are property, and merchandise, and are sold as such. . . . 

We admit that the decision of Lord Mansfield divested the master’s right [in 

Somerset]; yet we contend that the moment the master and slave left England, 

the master’s rights revived. . . . So when the master of Ann Joice returned with 

her to Maryland or got her out of England . . . she was his slave. The common 

law, at the time Ann Joice was in England, was that trover [a lawsuit for damages 

for wrongful taking of personal property] would lie for a negro slave; and that the 

Case of Somerset was afterward and therefor was not applicable.  (63) 

 

Both sides had agreed to stipulate the lineage of Charles Mahoney. The 

questions before the Court were: had Ann Joice been in England, what was her status 

when there, and had her status changed upon her arrival in Maryland? Noting that Ann 

Joice was said to have been in England some ninety years or more before Somerset, 
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the Court declined to speculate how England, now a foreign court, would have ruled on 

her case at the time she was there. The Court noted Lord Mansfield had declined to 

decide whether Somerset had been freed by his presence in England; rather, absent 

positive law supporting the state of slavery, there was no basis for Somerset’s retention, 

so he was freed. The Court then observed that a positive law, such as was lacking in 

Somerset, existed in Maryland:  

 

By a positive law of this state in 1715, the relation of master and slave is 

recognized as then existing, and all negro and other slaves then imported, or 

thereafter to be imported into this province, and all children then born, or 

thereafter to be born, of such negroes or slaved, are declared to be slaves during 

their natural lives. (64).  

 

The Court of Appeals ruled: 

 

We are of the opinion that [this case] must be governed by the laws of this state; 

and that in this case … upon bringing Ann Joice into this state, then the Province 

of Maryland, the relation of master and slave continued in its extent as authorized 

by the laws of this state; and therefore that the judgment of the general court 

must be reversed. (65). 

 

In the third trial of Charles Mahoney’s petition, although years had passed as 

evidence was gathered before the prior trial, surprising new evidence appeared and 

was presented by John Ashton’s lawyers – the depositions of two witnesses taken in 

1801 to the effect that Ann Joice was a “Guinea Negro” purchased by Lord Baltimore 

while sailing to America from England mid-ocean from a ship sailing from Guinea to 

America. (66) Ashton, the Jesuits, and the Maryland planter-enslavers prevailed.  

Ashton would subsequently manumit Charles, Patrick, and Patrick Mahoney and 

others. (67) Spared the costs levied by the court at the end of trial, the Jesuits were still 

left with substantial legal bills. Archbishop John Carroll instructed Francis Neale, then 

the Corporations agent as well as Holy Trinity’s pastor, “The sale of a few unnecessary 
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Negroes, three or four, and Stock would replace the money.” (68)  

After the Court of Appeals ruling, Maryland law on the relation of master and 

slave, not Somerset, determined an ancestor’s status upon arriving in the state, a 

consequence far more costly to the enslaved than the overall costs the Jesuits and 

other planter-enslavers would have paid had the Court of Appeals ruled the other way.  

Six years later, on May 1, 1808, Nancy Queen (not the same) filed a petition for 

freedom against Charles Neale, now the agent for the Corporation of the Roman 

Catholic Clergyman in the State of Maryland, in Charles County Court, Maryland. (69) 

On March 20, 1809, Nancy, through her attorney, requested the Court to transfer the 

case to a different county court within the judicial district, “wither Saint Mary’s or Prince 

Georges’,” because they believed they could not have a fair and impartial trial in 

Charles County. As required by the Maryland statute, Nancy produced an affidavit 

supporting the request. The Court refused transfer, and trial began on August 21, 1809. 

The jury found against her, and her attorney, Francis Scott Key, appealed to the 

Maryland Court of Appeals. (70)  On December 17, 1810. The Court of Appeals affirmed 

the judgment. The Court’s opinion, delivered by Justice Nicholson, was short. He first 

noted that the statute required an affidavit to be made by a party “competent to make an 

affidavit.” He then ruled: “A negro, petitioning for his freedom, is not competent to make 

such an affidavit – his slavery or freedom being then sub judice (at issue before the 

court), and if a slave, he is excluded by the act of 1717, ch 13.” (71) Nancy Queen’s 

affidavit was incompetent because she was enslaved.  

 

The Words that Had Set Us Free Can Do So No More 

 State legislatures were not the sole source of impediments to the continued 

success of freedom suits. The developing law of hearsay – that which does not come 

from “the personal knowledge of the witness, but from the mere repetition of what he 

has heard others say” (72) – would soon become a powerful barrier to admission of 

evidence regarding an ancestor’s race or past presence in England, each a critical base 

for a freedom suit.  

 On January 8, 1810, when Francis Scott Key filed Priscilla Queen’s petition for 

freedom with the Circuit Court of the District of Columbia, he filed three additional 
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freedom petitions on behalf of other Queen family members: Mina Queen and Louisa 

Queen v. John Hepburn; Hester Queen v. James Nevitt & Richard Nally; and Alexis 

Queen v. John Davis (73). As with Priscilla Queen’s, the petitions for each asked the 

Court to grant her relief and to subpoena the defendant(s) immediately “as she 

apprehends that she may be removed” out of the jurisdiction of the Court before the 

next term.  Priscilla’s case would be the first to come before the Court. 

Priscilla Queen was “born in 1763, the great-granddaughter of Mary Queen and 

one of the last Queens still held by the Jesuits.” She was born to Mary Queen at All 

Hollow’s Parish in Anne Arundel County, and when a child was at Fingale, together with 

siblings Nancy, Cate, and Rachel. (74) Aside from this moment in time captured in the 

records of the Circuit Court at which an enslaved woman bravely challenged her 

powerful owner, little else is known about Priscilla Queen.  

 Her case against Francis Neale went to trial in June 1810, with a jury empaneled 

on June 20 and the trial beginning the following day. On June 21, Neale’s lawyers read 

the testimony of Benjamin Duvall to the jury, without objection as hearsay by Francis 

Scott Key, so the jury heard Duvall’s contrarian account that Mary Queen was African 

and always a slave. To counter Duvall’s testimony, Key offered to read the portion of 

Fredus Ryland’s deposition containing his first-hand account of the declaration of Mary 

Queen of her free birth in New Spain and three years in England. The court refused. 

(75) Both Gabriel Duvall, who had represented Edward Queen and Charles Mahoney, 

and Simon Queen, after the court overruled the objection to Queen by Neale’s lawyers, 

testified on behalf of Priscilla Queen. Key was able to read into evidence portions of 

depositions of other witnesses used in previous trials, including those of Thomas 

Warfield, which included a declaration of John Jiams, and the deposition of George 

Davis, which included a declaration of Lewis Lee, each of which stating that Mary 

Queen was a free woman and brought into this country and sold for seven years. The 

Court rejected the argument by Neale’s lawyers that the declarations of Jiams and Lee 

were inadmissible and subsequently rejected the proposal by Neale’s lawyers to instruct 

the jury that the declarations read were incompetent to prove Mary Queen was entitled 

to freedom and illegally detained in slavery. The Court instructed the jury as follows:  
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If the Jury believed from the evidence that the petitioner is lineally descended in 

the female line from Mary Queen, and that the said Mary Queen was brought into 

this Country as a free woman or a servant and sold for seven years, they must 

find for the petitioner, and the declarations of Capt. Jiams that the said Mary 

Queen was a free woman and that she was brought into the Country and sold for 

seven years (as stated in the deposition of Warfield) is admissible evidence to 

prove those facts. (76) 

 

Both sides filed bills of Exceptions to the Court the same day: Francis Scott Key 

to the exclusion of the portions of Fredus Ryland’s deposition containing the 

declarations of Mary Queen, and John Law to the admission of the declarations of 

Jiams and Lee and to the testimony of Simon Queen.  For reasons unclear, Priscilla 

Queen’s case does not appear to have proceeded to verdict. (77)  

 The Circuit Court did rule on the exceptions entered by each counsel: As to the 

exclusion of the portions of Fredus Ryland’s deposition containing the declarations of 

Mary Queen, the Court ruled “The declaration of the ancestor, while held as a slave, 

cannot be given in evidence,” and as to the inclusion of the declarations of Jiams and 

Lee and the corresponding instructions to the jury, it ruled “Declarations of deceased 

persons, that the ancestor was free, may be given in evidence, to show that the 

ancestor was in fact free, that is, not held in slavery.” (78)  

 Put simply, declarations of Mary Queen were inadmissible because she was 

enslaved (assumed until the jury found otherwise), but the double hearsay of Jiams and 

Lee were admissible to prove the fact of Mary Queen’s freedom (and the jury would 

decide whether or not to believe it).  

 The petition of Mina Queen and her minor child Louisa, also descendants of 

Mary Queen, against their enslaver John Hepburn came next. Hepburn was 

represented by John Law, Francis Neale’s lawyer, and Walter Jones. As in Priscilla 

Queen’s case, the D.C. Court again disallowed the same portions of the deposition of 

Fredus Ryland but allowed the testimony of Simon Queen. Francis Scott Key attempted 

to put a portion of Caleb Clarke’s deposition as to what he heard his mother say and 

what he heard his mother say her father said about the pedigree of Mary Queen. 
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Hepburn’s counsel objected to any part of the deposition stating what Clarke’s mother 

had told him she was informed of by her father Marsh Mareen Duvall.  The Court 

sustained the objection and decided the statements (the statements of Clarke’s mother 

as to what her father told her) were inadmissible evidence. Key again tried to introduce 

the portions of the deposition of Fredus Ryland containing the declarations of Mary 

Queen, but again was denied. Key took exceptions to both. (79) The deposition of John 

Warfield as to the declarations of John Jiams was allowed, but this time the Court 

instructed the jury: 

 

If they should be satisfied upon the evidence that these declarations of John 

Jiams were not derived from his own knowledge, but were founded on hearsay or 

report communicated to him many years after the importation and sale of the said 

Mary, without its appearing by whom or in what manner such communication was 

made to him; then his said declarations are not competent in this cause. (80)  

 

The jury found for the defendant John Hepburn after the last six jurors were 

sworn in, on June 26th or 27th, 1810. On June 29, 1810, Francis Scott Key appealed 

the outcome to the United States Supreme Court pursuant to a writ of error. (81)   

The case was argued before the Court on February 5, 1813, before Chief Justice 

John Marshall, and Associate Justices Bushrod Washington, William Johnson, Henry 

Brockhorst Livingston, Gabriel Duvall, and Joseph Story. Absent was Justice Thomas 

Todd. Justice Duvall, who had represented Edward Queen, Charles Mahoney, and 

many others in prior freedom suits, and testified as a witness for the petitioners in the 

trials of both Priscilla Queen and the appellants in the case Mina and Louisa Queen, 

had joined the Court seventeen months after the verdict in the case now before the 

Court in which he had testified. (82)  

Key explained to the Court that “the principal exception is to the opinion of the 

[Circuit] Court that in tracing a pedigree, the hearsay of hearsay is not admissible. Caleb 

Clarke’s deposition as to what he heard his mother say was admitted, but, as to what he 

heard his mother say her father said, was rejected. If this opinion be correct it will be 

impossible to prove any ancient fact.” (83) 
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The majority opinion, written by Chief Justice John Marshall, denied the appeal 

and upheld the lower court, holding that "hearsay evidence is incompetent to establish 

any specific fact, which fact is in its nature susceptible of being proved by witnesses 

who speak from their own knowledge." (84) Critically, Marshall opined:  

 

However the feelings of the individual may be interested on the part of a person 

claiming freedom, the Court cannot perceive any legal distinction between the 

assertion of this and of any other right which will justify the application of a rule of 

evidence to cases of this description which would be inapplicable to general 

cases in which a right to property may be asserted. The rule then which the Court 

shall establish in this cause will not, in its application, be confined to cases of this 

particular description, but will be extended to others where rights may depend on 

facts which happened many years past. . . .  

If the circumstance that the eye witnesses of any fact be dead should justify the 

introduction of testimony to establish that fact from hearsay, no man could feel 

safe in any property a claim to which might be supported by proof so easily 

obtained (emphasis added). (85) 

 

The words that had freed Mina Queen’s ancestors could no longer free her, her 

daughter, or the other Queens. To Chief Justice Marshall and the Supreme Court of the 

United States, even though the case is about a person’s petition for her freedom, there 

was nothing about the case different from any general case on property rights. The rule 

established became a general rule. 

In the lone dissent, newly appointed Justice Gabriel Duvall, who before 

appointment had represented Edward Queen and other descendants of Mary Queen, as 

well as taken the deposition of Fredus Ryland, in his only written dissent in his 24-year 

career on Supreme Court (86), strongly disagreed, stating:  

 

In Maryland the law has been for many years settled that on a petition for 

freedom where the petitioner claims from an ancestor who has been dead for a 

great length of time, the issue may be proved by hearsay evidence, if the fact is 
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of such antiquity that living testimony cannot be procured. Such was the opinion 

of the judges of the general Court of Maryland, and their decision was affirmed 

by the unanimous opinion of the judges of the High Court of Appeals in the last 

resort, after full argument by the ablest counsel at the bar. I think the decision 

was correct. Hearsay evidence was admitted upon the same principle, upon 

which it is admitted to prove a custom, pedigree and the boundaries of land; 

because from the antiquity of the transactions to which these subjects may have 

reference, it is impossible to produce living testimony. To exclude hearsay in such 

cases, would leave the party interested without remedy. It was decided also that 

the issue could not be prejudiced by the neglect or omission of the ancestor. If 

the ancestor neglected to claim her right, the issue could not be bound by length 

of time, it being a natural inherent right.  

 

It appears to me that the reason for admitting hearsay evidence upon a question 

of freedom is much stronger than in cases of pedigree, or in controversies 

relative to the boundaries of land. It will be universally admitted that the right to 

freedom is more important than the right of property. 

 

And people of color, from their helpless condition under the uncontrolled authority 

of a master, are entitled to all reasonable protection. A decision that hearsay 

evidence in such cases shall not be admitted, cuts up by the roots all claims of 

the kind, and puts a final end to them, unless the claim should arise from a fact of 

recent date, and such a case will seldom, perhaps never, occur. (87)  

 

To the question – are enslaved persons entitled to certain inalienable rights or 

mere chattel slaves? – Chief Justice Marshall and the Supreme Court answered – No, 

the safety of property rights must not be jeopardized even for an individual’s liberty.  

 

Professor Paul Finkelman puts Marshall’s opinion in perspective for modern 

observers: 

Marshall’s opinion was at odds with the law in Maryland, Virginia, and 
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other slave states, where judges often recognized the distinction 

between freedom suits and other kinds of cases. Only a few years 

before, in Hudgins v. Wrights, 11 Va. 134 (VA 1806), the Virginia Court 

of Appeals had upheld the freedom of an enslaved family based in part 

on hearsay evidence. George Wythe, Marshall’s former law professor, 

declared the slaves free in the trial court and it was upheld by one of 

the nation’s leading jurists, St. George Tucker, the author of the first 

American edition of Blackstone’s Commentaries. Marshall could easily 

have found an exception to hearsay rules in freedom suits, because 

they were special kinds of cases. (88) 

 

In John Davis v. Wood, 14 U.S. (1 Wheat.) 6 (March 12, 1816), hearsay 

formed a portion of the basis for Chief Justice Marshall’s rejection of the 

evidence that the ancestor of the petitioners, Mary Davis, was a white woman, 

and in the process confirming its opinion in Mima Queen v. Hepburn. The 

remaining portion of the basis was the rejection of the judgment finding the 

petitioners’ mother to be a free white woman, because the defendant in that 

case was not the same as in the case then before the Court. Marshall, 

delivering the opinion of the Court, stated, “The rule is, that verdicts are 

evidence between parties and privies. The Court does not feel inclined to 

enlarge the exceptions to this general rule, and, therefore, the judgment of the 

court below is affirmed.” (89)  Under Davis v. Wood the Butlers would not have 

been able to win their freedom.  

The courthouse doors were now closed to freedom suits dependent upon 

hearsay testimony throughout the land. Both descent from a white woman, and 

a woman who had been in England after Somerset and therefore free, no 

longer formed the basis for a freedom suit because the best evidence of the 

status of the ancestor was no longer admissible in evidence.  Yet the struggle 

for freedom continued. Tenacious enslaved men and women, together with their 

lawyers, carefully examined the particular facts of their situation, the quality of 

supporting evidence, circumstances offered by new or existing statutes such as 

https://global.oup.com/us/companion.websites/fdscontent/uscompanion/us/static/companion.websites/9780199751358/instructor/chapter_4/hudgins.pdf
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Maryland’s 1796 non-importation law, (90) and various other aspects of their 

lives that would provide the basis for a freedom claim that a court would hear. 

These efforts continued until the courthouse doors were slammed tightly shut in 

1857 when, in Dred Scott v. Sandford, the Supreme Court held that former 

enslaved people did not have standing in federal courts because they lacked 

U.S. citizenship, even after they were freed. (91) The doors would not open 

again until after the Civil War and the Thirteenth and Fourteenth Amendments 

nullified the Dred Scott decision. 

In June 1813, after the February 5, 1813, Supreme Court decision in 

Mima Queen v. John Hepburn, the D.C. Circuit Court dismissed Priscilla 

Queen’s case. (92) 

Francis Neale continued as pastor at Holy Trinity until 1817. In the 

interim he incurred the ire of Bishop John Carroll after Bishop Carroll 

discovered that he “continued to sell for life people enslaved by the Jesuits,” 

contrary to the 1814 decision of the Corporation “to sell all the enslaved people 

they held with the provision that they would be granted their freedom after a 

specific number of years” (which the Jesuits revoked in 1820). (93) In 1817, he 

was appointed Superior at St. Thomas Manor and pastor of St. Ignatius Church 

at nearby Chapel Point, close to his family’s estate, Chandler’s Hope, and his 

brother Charles.  Reverend Francis Neale was buried upon his death on 

December 20, 1837, at St. Ignatius Church. (94) 

Priscilla Queen is reported to have died in Georgetown “after 1815.” The 

circumstances of her death and details of her life in the time after her petition 

remain unknown. (95) Mina Queen is likewise reported to have died in 

Georgetown “after 1815,” two years since the Supreme Court decision denying 

her freedom. (96)  

 

Consequences 

The Jesuits’ landholding and need to support themselves had momentous 

consequences, drawing them willingly, as participants, into the plantation system, 
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ultimately dependent upon enslaved labor to support themselves and their mission, as 

Professor Cook has noted. (97) They eventually became one of the largest enslavers in 

Maryland, little different from the other wealthy plantation enslavers, at risk not only to 

the vicissitudes of weather, crop prices, and other risks of agriculture, but potential loss 

of their human property – their free labor – through freedom suits in the courts and the 

costly compensation levied for the newly freed. They were co-defendants with other 

wealthy plantation owners insisting before the Maryland Court of Appeals that their 

“Brothers in Jesus Christ” as a previous superior of the Maryland Jesuits phrased it, “are 

property, and merchandise, and are sold as such.” They won that case and others, 

establishing precedent in the courts and resulting in pernicious, long-lasting damage to 

the enslaved of Maryland while falling victim to the moral corruption of which Francis 

Hargrave had eloquently warned.  

Queen v. Hepburn, as Professor Sklansky notes, provides “an object lesson in 

the law’s complicity in the institution of slavery,” reminding that the history of that 

complicity lies imbedded in virtually every field of American legal doctrine, including 

rules of evidence. (98) 

 

Epilogue 

When the courthouse doors did open again, the question of whether the United 

States had finally fully realized the self-evident truths for all was only partially answered.  

The Thirteenth Amendment had abolished slavery when ratified on December 6, 

1865. Section 1 of the Fourteenth Amendment made all persons born or naturalized in 

the United States citizens of the United States and the State in which they reside and 

prohibited any State to “make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or 

immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person of 

life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its 

jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.” It was effective, together with its three 

additional sections, when ratified on July 9, 1868. Section 1 of the Fifteenth 

Amendment, “the right of citizens of the United States to vote shall not be denied by the 

United States or by any State on account of race, color or previous condition of 

servitude,” was effective when ratified on February 3, 1870. The last section of each 
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Amendment gave Congress the power to enforce the Amendments by “appropriate 

legislation.”  

The words were now in the Constitution, aligning it with the self-evident truths of 

the Declaration of Independence. But would action meet the words? 

In addition to having passed the “Reconstruction Amendments,” Congress 

quickly used its newly granted authority, passing among other legislation, the Civil 

Rights Act of 1866 (over the veto of President Andrew Johnson); the Enforcement Act of 

1870; Enforcement Act of 1871; the Ku Klux Klan Act (or the Third Enforcement Act); 

and the Civil Rights Act of 1875. (99)   

The Supreme Court, however, would quickly take the country in a different 

direction. That became apparent with the Supreme Court’s decision in the 

Slaughterhouse Cases, the Court’s first major decision interpreting the Fourteenth 

Amendment. (100)  The five to four majority, with their opinion written by Associate 

Justice Samuel F. Miller, narrowly construed the Fourteenth Amendment as applying 

only to former slaves and interpreted the Privileges or Immunities Clause as limited to 

those privileges or immunities conferred by national citizenship, such as “the right to use 

the navigable waters of the United States, however they may penetrate the territory of 

the several States, [and] all rights secured to our citizens by treaties with foreign nations 

[that are] dependent upon citizenship of the United States,” (101) as distinguished from 

“those which belong to citizens of the States as such . . . that are left to the State 

governments for security and protection, and not by this article placed under the special 

care of the Federal government.” (102) Four Justices dissented, including Chief Justice 

Salmon Portland Chase (who alone among the dissenters did not write an opinion and 

died three weeks later).   

Writing in dissent, Associate Justice Stephen Johnson Field summed up the 

majority ruling by stating if the majority interpretation of the 14th Amendment was 

correct, “it [the Amendment] was a vain and idle enactment, which accomplished 

nothing and most unnecessarily excited Congress and the people on its passage.”(103) 

Justice Field’s assessment was prescient.  Under the Court’s opinion, the Privileges or 

Immunities Clause, thought to be the most likely basis for enforcing individual rights, 

(104) in effect does nothing. Neither the Bill of Rights nor fundamental natural rights 
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were included within its scope, so in order to apply the Amendment, the equality 

function of the Privileges or Immunities Clause was taken over by the Equal Protection 

Clause, and the substantive functions were taken over by the Due Process Clause. 

(105) 

Three years later, on March 27, 1876, the Court decided two cases which 

narrowed the scope of the Fourteenth and the Fifteenth Amendments. The first, United 

States v. Reese (106) was an 8-1 decision ruling that the Enforcement Act of 1870 was 

not a valid exercise of Congress’s power to enforce the 15th Amendment. The case was 

the Court’s first voting rights case since adoption of the 15th Amendment. Chief Justice 

Morrison Waite (who replaced Chief Justice Salmon Portland Chase) first stated that the 

Fifteenth Amendment "does not confer the right of suffrage upon any one," but 

"prevents the States, or the United States, however, from giving preference . . . to one 

citizen of the United States over another on account of race, color, or previous condition 

of servitude."(107) 

The second, decided the same day, United States v. Cruikshank, (108) in a five 

to four decision written by Chief Justice Morrison Waite, upheld the lower court’s 

dismissal of federal criminal charges for conspiracy under the Enforcement Act 0f 1870, 

arising out of the Colfax Massacre in Grant Parish, Louisiana. The Court ruled that the 

Fourteenth Amendment protected citizens only from state action and not from violent 

attacks committed by private individuals. The Court, citing United States v. Reese, its 

decision earlier in the day discussed above, further construed the Fifteenth Amendment 

such “that the right of suffrage is not a necessary attribute of national citizenship, but 

that exemption from discrimination in the exercise of that right on account of race, &c., 

is. The right to vote in the States comes from the States, but the right of exemption from 

the prohibited discrimination comes from the United States. The first has not been 

granted or secured by the Constitution of the United States, but the last has been.” 

(109) 

The Civil Rights Act of 1875 required: “That all persons within the jurisdiction of 

the United States shall be entitled to the full and equal enjoyment of the 

accommodations, advantages, facilities, and privileges of inns, public conveyances on 

land or water, theaters, and other places of public amusement; subject only to the 
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conditions and limitations established by law, and applicable alike to citizens of every 

race and color, regardless of any previous condition of servitude.” The second section 

provided that any person denied access to these facilities on account of race would be 

entitled to monetary restitution under a federal court of law. (110) Eight years later, after 

the Compromise of 1877 resolved the Hayes-Tilden election of 1876 with a Republican 

President Hayes in exchange for the end of Reconstruction, the Supreme Court 

declared the Civil Rights Act of 1875 unconstitutional in an 8-1 vote.  

The Civil Rights Cases, 109 U.S. 3 (1883), consolidated five appeals, U.S. v. 

Stanley; U.S. v. Ryan; U.S. v. Nichols; U.S. v. Singleton; and Robinson and wife v. 

Memphis & Charleston Railroad Company, all of which concerned discrimination on the 

grounds of race at the hands of private organizations. Differentiating between state and 

private action, the majority ruled that the Fourteenth Amendment did not permit the 

federal government to prohibit discriminatory behavior by private parties. Sections 1 and 

2 of the Civil Rights Act of 1875 were unconstitutional because they exceeded 

Congress's authority under the Fourteenth Amendment by purporting to regulate the 

conduct of private individuals. The Court held the Act likewise exceeded Congress’s 

authority under the Thirteenth Amendment, which bars involuntary servitude and is 

restricted to prohibiting ownership of slaves, not other forms of discriminatory conduct. 

(111)  

Plessy v. Ferguson, decided on May 18, 1896, (112) provided the capstone to 

the Supreme Court’s actions to curb what it had previously characterized as: 

 

So serious, so far-reaching and pervading, so great a departure from the 

structure and spirit of our institutions; when the effect is to fetter and degrade the 

State governments by subjecting them to the control of Congress in the exercise 

of powers heretofore universally conceded to them of the most ordinary and 

fundamental character; when, in fact, it radically changes the whole theory of the 

relations of the State and Federal governments to each other and of both these 

governments to the people. (113) 

 

Plessy involved a Louisiana state law, the Separate Car Act, which required 
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separate railway cars for blacks and whites. Homer Plessy – who was seven-eighths 

Caucasian – agreed to participate in a test to challenge the Act.  Plessy was technically 

black under Louisiana law and sat in a "whites only" car of a Louisiana train. When told 

to vacate the whites-only car, he refused and was arrested. At trial, his lawyers argued 

that the Separate Car Act violated the Thirteenth and Fourteenth Amendments, but the 

judge found that Louisiana could enforce this law insofar as it affected railroads within 

its boundaries and Plessy was convicted. In a 7-1 decision, the Court held that the 

Separate Car Act was constitutional. In an opinion authored by Justice Henry Billings 

Brown, the majority upheld state-imposed racial segregation. Justice Brown conceded 

that the 14th Amendment intended to establish absolute equality for the races before 

the law, but held that separate treatment did not imply the inferiority of African 

Americans. Put simply, segregation did not in itself constitute unlawful discrimination. In 

dissent, John Marshall Harlan argued that the Constitution was color-blind and that the 

United States had no class system. Accordingly, all citizens should have equal access 

to civil rights. (114) 

By means of the Court’s rulings in Plessy and the preceding cases discussed 

above, the Supreme Court managed to greatly curtail the effect of the Reconstruction 

Amendments, as the Thirteenth, Fourteenth, and Fifteenth Amendments are called. At 

the dawn of the twentieth century, the Supreme Court’s decisions had provided the 

foundation in the Southern States for “Jim Crow” laws and what southerners would 

come to call, and violently defend through state and local law, as well as extrajudicial  

“lynchings,” as “a way of life.” (115)     

 

The record is there for all to read. It resounds all over the world. It might as well 

be written in the sky. One wishes that Americans, white Americans, would read, 

for their own sakes, this record, and stop defending themselves against it. Only 

then will they be enabled to change their lives. 

James Baldwin (116) 
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